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HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION 

OCTOBER 28, 2013 

DEMOLITION AND RELOCATION PERMITS 

HDP-2013-0681 

1303 E. 2ND STREET 

 

PROPOSAL 

Demolish the rear walls of a ca. 1920 house for the construction of a 2-story rear addition. 

 

ARCHITECTURE 

One-story, rectangular-plan, front-gabled frame house with an almost-full-width, shed-

roofed, independent porch on structural steel posts; single and paired 1:1 fenestration.  

There is a 2-story, modern garage apartment behind the house. 

RESEARCH 

The house was built around 1920 William and Emerald Peterson, who had previously lived 

at 1506 E. 1st Street.  William Peterson was a Connecticut-born electrician; he died in May, 

1933.  His widow, Emerald (“Emma”), had been born in Michigan, and during the 

Depression, worked in the Travis County Sewing Room, a WPA project, at 6th and Red 

River Streets. Around 1946, she married George M. Rhodes, who was first listed as a 

rancher; he operated the Rhodes Saw and Lawn Mower Service at 500 E. 1st Street in the 

early 1950s, then was listed later as an electrician.  Emerald’s son from her marriage to 

William Peterson, William E., lived in the house with his wife, Janie.  The son worked as a 

welder and layout man for Tips Engine Works.  George Rhodes died in Houston in 1961; 

Emerald Rhodes continued to live here until the early 1970s; she died at the home of her 

son in Burnet County in 1973.  The house then became a rental unit. 

STAFF COMMENTS 

The house does not appear in any City survey.  The applicant proposes to remove all the 

siding and the roof of the existing structure and to transform it into a two-story structure 

with ultra-modern design that will bear little resemblance to the existing house. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Request that the applicant seriously reconsider her plans to completely transform this 

house into a 2-story modern structure, and consider retaining all or the front portion of the 

house to preserve the street presence, and construct an addition to the rear.  The house is 

an intact example of 1920s working-class residential architecture in East Austin, and 

represents a vernacular adaptation of the shotgun houses of the Gulf Coast with its small 

size and narrow lot – these aspects are worthy of preservation of the structure.  While the 

house does not have a particularly distinctive history, it does represent the means and 

abilities of Austin’s working class to purchase property in the early part of the 20th century.  

Further, the blocks of E. 2nd Street just east of the I-35 freeway may qualify as a possible 

historic district. 
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LOCATION MAP 
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1303 E. 2nd Street 
ca. 1920 

 
 

OCCUPANCY HISTORY 
1303 E. 2nd Street 

 
City Directory Research, Austin History Center 
By City Historic Preservation Office 
September, 2010 
 
1992  Joe and Laura M. Lopez, renters 
  Glazier 

NOTE:  The directory indicates that Joe and Laura M. Lopez were new residents 
at this address. 

 
1985-86 Micaela Gonzalez, renter 
  No occupation listed 
 
1981  Helen C. Gonzalez, renter 
  No occupation listed 
 
1977  Helen C. Gonzalez, renter 
  Widow, Jesse Gonzalez 
  No occupation listed 
1973  Vacant 
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1968  Mrs. Emerald R. Rhodes, owner 
  Widow, George M. Rhodes 
  No occupation listed 
 
1962  George M. and Emerald R. Rhodes, owners 
  No occupation listed 
 
1959  George M. and Emerald R. Rhodes, owners 
  No occupation listed 

 
1955  George M. and Emerald R. Rhodes, owners 
  Electrician 
 
1953  George M. and Emma Rhodes, owners 
  Proprietor, Rhodes Saw and Lawn Mower Service, 500 E. 1st Street. 
 
1949 Emma Rhodes, owner 
 NOTE:  Neither Emma nor George Rhodes are listed in the directory. 
 
1947 Emma Rhodes, owner 
 No occupation listed 
 Also listed is George Rhodes, a rancher. 
 Also listed are William E. and Jamie F. Peterson, renters.  He was a layout man 

for Tips Engine Works, 300 Baylor Street.  He was William and Emerald 
Peterson’s son. 

 
1944-45 William E. and Thelma Peterson, renters 
 Welder, Tips Engine Works, 300 Baylor Street. 
 NOTE:  This William E. Peterson is the son of William and Emerald Peterson. 
 
1941 Emerald Peterson, owner 
 Widow, William Peterson 
 No occupation listed 
 
1939 Emerald Peterson, owner 
 Widow, William Peterson 
 Seamstress 
 
1937 Emerald Peterson, owner 
 Widow, William Peterson 
 Seamstress, Travis County Sewing Room (WPA), 601-09 E. 6th Street. 
 
1935 William and Emerald Peterson, owners 
 Electrician 
 
1932-33 William and Emerald Peterson, owners 
 Electrician 
 
1930-31 William and Emerald Peterson, owners 
 Electrician, Fox-Schmidt, electrical, plumbing, and heating contractors, 415 W. 6th 

Street. 
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1929 William and Emerald Peterson, owners 
 Electrician, John L. Martin, plumbing, heating, and electrical supplies and 

contractors, 410 Congress Avenue. 
 
1927 William and Emerald Peterson, owners 
 Electrician 
 
1924 William and Emma Peterson, owners 
 No occupation listed 
 
1922 Willie and Emma Peterson, owners 
 No occupation listed 
 
1920 The address is not listed in the directory. 
 NOTE:  William and Emerald Peterson are listed at 1506 E. 1st Street; he was an 

electrician. 
 
BIOGRAPHICAL NOTES: 
William and Emerald Peterson (ca. 1920 – ca. 1933) 
Emerald and George Rhodes (ca. 1948 – ca. 1970) 
Emerald (“Emma”) Peterson, and her son, William E. Peterson, appear in the 1940 U.S. Census 
as the owners of this house, which was worth $2,500.  Emma Peterson was then a 54-year old 
Michigan-born widow, who was a cutter in a sewing room.  William E. Peterson was then 18, 
had been born in Texas, and was a taxi driver. 
 
The 1930 U.S. Census shows William and Emma Peterson as the owners of this house, which 
was worth $4,000.  William Peterson was a 48-year old Connecticut-born electrician; his parents 
had both been born in Sweden.  Emma Peterson was then 45, and had no occupation listed.  
Her parents had both been born in Germany.  Their son, William E., 8, had been born in Texas. 
 
George M. Rhodes died in Harris County, Texas, September 1, 1961. 
 

 
Obituary of William Peterson 

Austin American, May 30, 1933 
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Funeral notice for William Peterson 

Austin American, May 31, 1933 
 

 
Obituary of Emerald Peterson Rhodes 

Austin American, May 8, 1973 
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Building permit to Emerald Peterson for asphalt siding on the house (1944) 

 

 
Building permit to George Rhodes for a frame addition to the porch (1967) 
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